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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff,

v.

PASKENTA BAND OF NOMLAKI 
INDIANS, A FEDERALLY RECOGNIZED 
INDIAN TRIBE,

Defendants.

Case No. 2:14-cv-01449-KJM-CMK

PASKENTA BAND OF NOMLAKI 
INDIANS’ SPECIAL, LIMITED 
APPEARANCE & OPPOSITION TO 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR 
TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER

Hon. Kimberly J. Mueller

I. INTRODUCTION

Defendant, the Paskenta Band of Nomlaki Indians (the “Tribe”), opposes the relief sought 

in the State’s Motion for Temporary Restraining Order.  This Opposition is filed on behalf of the 

Tribe, by and through its duly elected and federally recognized Tribal Council.1

Despite its Opposition, the Tribe will and does consent to the entry of an order enjoining 

the operation of Rolling Hills Casino (“Casino”) until that gaming operation is in compliance 

with the Compact and there no longer exists an imminent threat to the public health and safety. 

The State and the Tribe can agree as to that contingency (and jointly request the Court to lift such 

                                                
1 By making this special, limited appearance, the Tribe in no way waives its immunity or challenges to the Court’s 

jurisdiction.  
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order when appropriate) or comply with the contractual dispute resolution provisions that exist in 

the Compact.

Through its Complaint and Motion for Temporary Restraining Order, the State of California

seeks to enjoin Defendant, the “Paskenta Band of Nomlaki Indians, a federally recognized Indian 

Tribe,” from engaging in certain conduct related to control and possession of the Rolling Hills 

Casino.  The federal government does indeed recognize the Tribe, and it recognizes Andrew 

Freeman, David Swearinger, Leslie Lohse, Geraldine Freeman, and Allen Swearinger as Tribe’s 

uncontested, duly-elected Tribal Council.  According to the United States Bureau of Indian 

Affairs (“BIA”) on June 9, 2014:

ECF No. 3-3 at 69-70, Decl. of J. Dhillon, Ex. B; see also Declaration of Vice Chairman David 

Swearinger (recognizing the same five-person Tribal Council), Ex. A.2   

For the reasons set forth below, the Court lacks jurisdiction to do anything other than 

enjoin the illegal and unsafe gaming activity currently taking place at the Casino.  In accordance 

with federal law and the terms of the Compact between the State and the Tribe, the Court does 

possess the power to enjoin the operation of the Casino until the Tribe can demonstrate that it is 

in compliance with the Compact and that there no longer exists an imminent threat to the public 

health and safety.  Such relief would seemingly satisfy all of Plaintiff’s concerns, and, again, the 

Tribe would consent to the entry of such an order.  In fact, the Tribe fully intends to join in this 

                                                
2  More specifically, this brief is filed on behalf of the Tribal Council as authorized by David Swearinger, Leslie 

Lohse, Geraldine Freeman and Allen Swearinger.  Mr. Andrew Freeman does not join in this Opposition, but is 
instead appearing independently through the Rosette law firm.
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action the parties responsible for operating the Casino in contravention of the Compact and the 

Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (“IGRA”), which includes individuals and corporate entities who 

are not and have never been members of the Tribe.  See e.g., In re Sac & Fox Tribe of the Miss. in 

Iowa/Meskwaki Casino Lit., 340 F.3d 749 (8th Cir. 2003).

II. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court Lacks Jurisdiction to Do Anything Other Than Enjoin the Illegal 
Gaming Activity at Rolling Hills Casino.

Federal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction, and until the party asserting jurisdiction 

proves otherwise, cases lie outside a federal court’s jurisdiction.  Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. 

Co. of Am., 511 U.S. 375, 377 (1994).  Here, the State asserts federal question jurisdiction under 

28 U.S.C. § 1331 and has asserted a cause of action under IGRA, 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii).3  

Under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, federal courts “have jurisdiction [over] all civil actions arising under the 

Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States,” clear examples of which are cases in which 

federal law creates a cause of action.  Merrell Dow Pharms. Inc. v. Thompson, 478 U.S. 804, 808 

(1986).  Under 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii), federal courts have jurisdiction over the narrow 

issue of whether, upon motion of a State or Indian tribe, to “enjoin a class III gaming activity 

located on Indian lands and conducted in violation of any Tribal-State compact entered into under 

[IGRA] that is in effect.”  25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii); see also Florida v. Seminole Tribe of 

Florida, 181 F.3d 1237, 1242 (7th Cir. 1999) (finding that it was “clear that Congress abrogated 

tribal immunity [under 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii)] only in the narrow circumstance in which a 

tribe conducts class III gaming in violation of an existing Tribal-State compact.”); In re Sac & 

Fox Tribe of the Miss. in Iowa/Meskwaki Casino Lit., 340 F.3d 749 (8th Cir.2003) (holding that 

the tribe’s elected council had jurisdiction under 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii) to bring a suit 

against the tribe’s appointed council to enjoin the appointed council’s alleged illegitimate 

operation of a casino under the terms of the tribe’s compact with the State of Iowa).

                                                
3 The State has not asserted diversity jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332—nor could it—because Indian tribes are 

neither foreign states nor citizens of any state.  American Vantage Cos. v. Table Mountain Rancheria, 292 F.3d 
1091, 1098 (9th Cir. 2002).
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In support of its assertion that this Court has federal question jurisdiction over this matter, 

the State submits that its claim arises under federal statutes and federal common law.  ECF No. 2, 

at 2.  The State’s single cause of action, however, is for breach of the Compact between the Tribe 

and the State, a contract.  Id. at 4-5.  Besides IGRA and cases interpreting IGRA, the State cites to 

no federal statute or federal common law under which this breach of contract claim arises.  Thus, 

the Court only has federal question jurisdiction here to the extent IGRA confers it.  Indeed, under 

federal law, jurisdiction over Indian tribes is limited: “[A]n Indian tribe is subject to suit only 

where Congress has authorized the suit or the tribe has waived its immunity.”  Kiowa Tribe of 

Oklahoma v. Manufacturing Technologies, Inc., 523 U.S. 751, 754 (1998).

Under IGRA, federal courts can “enjoin a class III gaming activity” that violates a 

compact.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii).  Here, the State has asked the Court to enjoin the Tribe 

from: (1) attempting to repossess or take control of its Casino—a request stated broadly enough to 

foreclose the Tribe from doing so even by peaceful means; (2) deploying armed guards within 

100 yards of not just the Casino, but also tribal properties surrounding the Casino including 

hotels, gas stations, and RV parks; and (3) having firearms within this same overly broad 

collection of properties.  ECF No. 2, at 5.  None of these activities are a “class III gaming 

activity,” like slot machines or blackjack.4  As a result, the Court lacks jurisdiction to enjoin these 

activities.5

In its Complaint, the State has further asked the Court to declare the Tribe in breach of the 

Compact, and the gravamen of the Motion is the claim that the State can establish that it is likely 

to succeed on the merits.  ECF No. 2, at 5-6.  Its claim fails for a variety of reasons.  Here too, the 

                                                
4 “Class III gaming” activities are defined in 25 U.S.C. § 2703(8) as “all forms of gaming that are not class I 

gaming or class II gaming.”  “Class I gaming” refers to “social games solely for prizes of minimal value or 
traditional forms of Indian gaming engaged in by individuals as part of, or in connection with, tribal ceremonies 
or celebrations.”  27 U.S.C. § 2703(6).  “Class II gaming” includes various games of chance and card games, but 
excludes games such as baccarat, blackjack, and slot machines.  27 U.S.C. § 2703(7).  “Class III gaming” thus 
includes gaming activity occurring at the Casino.

5 To the extent that the tribe is seeking to enjoin individuals who are not the Tribe, or seeking to enjoin tribal 
members in their individual capacities, this suit must fail against the Tribe for lack of a sovereign immunity 
waiver.  Section 9.4(3) of the Compact expressly revokes the Tribe’s immunity waiver if a “person or entity 
other than the Tribe and the State is party to the action.”  ECF No. 3-3, at 44-45, Decl. of J. Dhillon, Ex. A, 
Compact, § 9.4(3).
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Court lacks jurisdiction to grant any relief on the breach claim, including making such a 

declaration.  First, there is no federal question jurisdiction for such declaratory relief.  Second, the 

Tribe and the State agreed to follow contractual dispute resolution mechanisms prior to filing 

such a lawsuit, which the State has not followed.  See ECF No. 3-3 at 44-45, Decl. of J. Dhillon, 

Ex. A [hereinafter “Compact”], § 11.2.1(c) (e.g., requiring the State and the Tribe to issue to the 

other “a sixty (60) day written notice of an opportunity to cure any alleged breach of this 

Compact” prior to bringing a suit for a declaration that the other materially breached the 

Compact).  Third, the Tribe has not waived its sovereign immunity as to this relief.  Kiowa Tribe 

of Oklahoma, 523 U.S. at 754.6  

Because IGRA does not waive tribal sovereign immunity, courts must look to the 

Tribal/State gaming Compact to identify any limited waiver of immunity when one party to the 

Compact alleges a Compact violation.  Pueblo of Santa Ana v. Nash, 972 F. Supp. 2d 1254 

(D.N.M. 2013).  Here, as it relates to the Tribe’s waiver of immunity, the Compact provides the 

following, in relevant part: “In the event that a dispute is to be resolved in federal court . . . the 

Tribe expressly consent[s] to be sued therein and waive[s] any immunity therefrom that they may 

have provided that . . . [t]he dispute is limited solely to issues arising under this Gaming 

Compact.”  Compact, § 9.4 (emphasis added).  Importantly, federal law also limits the application 

of any waiver to “the narrow category of cases where compliance with the IGRA’s provisions is 

at stake.”  Pueblo of Santa Ana, 972 F.Supp.2d at 1266; see also Mescalero Apache Tribe v. New 

Mexico, 131 F.3d 1379, 1385-86 (10th Cir. 1997) (same).  And in this narrow category of cases, 

the only relief available to the State is to “enjoin [the Tribe’s] class III gaming activity . . . 

conducted in violation of [the] Tribal-State compact.”  25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii).  Thus, the 

Tribe’s waiver of immunity is limited to an injunction that prevents the illegal conduct of class III 

                                                
6 Beyond these procedural shortcomings, the claim comes up short on substance.  On one hand the State 

complains that the Tribe has violated the Compact by failing to exercise proper control and restraint and ensuring 
public safety, while on the other it seeks to prevent the Tribe from doing just that.  The State has even submitted 
evidence in support of its TRO that affirmatively demonstrates the Tribe has undertaken Herculean efforts to 
take possession in a peaceful, legal manner, but has been frustrated by delayed responses to its requests for 
governmental assistance.  By acknowledging the Tribe’s efforts to repossess the Casino, the State necessarily 
concedes that the Tribe is not in any position to control the operation or ensure public safety.
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gaming activity.  Id.  To the extent that the State seeks relief beyond this, the Tribe has not 

waived its immunity.

Unlike its first four requests, the State’s final request for the Court to “enter such further 

orders and judgments as it deems appropriate,” ECF No. 2, at 6, can be reconciled with the 

limited jurisdiction of federal courts.  Indeed, the Tribe agrees that the Court can and should enter 

an order and judgment in this matter temporarily enjoining the operation of any Class III gaming 

at the Casino.  Furthermore, once proper parties are pled into this dispute, the Court should 

exercise authority over them to further enjoin their illegal gaming activity occurring at the Casino. 

B. The State Seeks Relief That Would Violate Federal Law.

The State’s request to this Court to enjoin the Tribe “from attempting to repossess, or take 

control of, the Casino” is a request to this Court to issue an order that would contravene federal 

law.  The request should be denied for this independent reason as well.  IGRA mandates that the 

Tribe retain sole proprietary interest in and the sole responsibility for the conduct of gaming on 

the Tribe’s lands.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(A); 25 C.F.R. § 522.4(b)(1); see also Compact, 

preamble (the purpose of the IGRA is to “shield [the Tribe] from crime and other corrupting 

influences; to ensure that the [Tribe] is the primary beneficiary of the gaming operation; [and] to 

ensure gaming is conducted fairly and honestly by . . . the operator . . . .”).  National Indian 

Gaming Commission regulations dictate that Tribal officials can enter and inspect gaming 

facilities.  25 C.F.R. § 573.6(a)(9).

The management of the Casino is currently depriving the Tribe of its sole proprietary 

interest and its conduct of the Casino.  Swearinger Decl. ¶¶ 8-9.  In seeking an injunction barring 

the Tribe from “[a]ttempting to repossess, or take control of, the Casino,” ECF No. 2, at 5, the 

State seeks relief that would be squarely at odds with IGRA because IGRA requires that the Tribe 

possess and control the Casino.  See 25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(A).  Implicit in the State’s request is 

its concession that the Tribe neither presently possesses nor controls the Casino.  

C. The Tribe’s Position

The Tribe understands and appreciates the State’s need to protect the public’s safety, and 

shares those very same concerns.  In fact, the Tribe has taken official action over the past ten 
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weeks to close its Casino for the same reason.  Swearinger Decl., ¶¶ 11-12, Exh. C.  The Tribe 

therefore specifically requests and urges the Court to issue the only relief allowable under the 

cause of action asserted by the State.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii).  Respectfully, the Tribe asks 

the Court to enjoin the operation of the Casino until the Tribe can demonstrate that the gaming 

operation is in compliance with the Compact and that there no longer exists an imminent threat to 

the public health and safety.  Id.

The above-described possession and control requirements imposed on the Tribe pursuant 

to IGRA are front and center among the Tribe’s concerns.  The Tribe fears that the Casino’s 

current operation by persons and entities that are not the federally recognized Tribe are harming 

the operation and long term viability of the Casino.  As explained by the National Indian Gaming 

Commission (the federal regulatory agency established under IGRA) in an April 21, 2014 letter to 

the Paskenta Band of Nomlaki Indians Chairman, Andrew Freeman:  

It appears that the tribal government recognized by the BIA[7] is not in 
control of the Band’s gaming operation and remains excluded from the 
premises. . . .  [¶]  If true, the federally recognized tribal government is being 
deprived of the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the gaming 
operation.  IGRA, NIGC’s regulations, and the Band’s gaming ordinance require 
that the Band retain the sole proprietary interest in and the sole responsibility for 
the conduct of gaming on the Tribe’s lands.  2 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(A); 25 C.F.R. § 
522.4(b)(1); Paskenta Band [] Gaming Ordinance, Art. IV.  Additionally, NIGC’s 
regulations require that authorized tribal officials be allowed to enter and inspect 
gaming facilities.  25 C.F.R. § 573.6(a)(9).  

Swearinger Decl., Exh. B (emphasis added).   In point of fact, the Tribal Council has been 

excluded from entering the Casino by those currently operating it in contravention of NIGC, 

IGRA, and the Compact, along with their armed, non-Tribal security contractor, Zak’s Security.  

Id., ¶¶ 7-8 .   

Indeed, the only sensible approach that facilitates both the State’s desire to ensure the 

public’s health and safety, and compliance with the Compact—which the Tribe desires as well—

and ensures peaceful resolution that allows the Tribe to regain control of its gaming operations, is 

                                                
7 See ECF No. 3-3 at 69-70, Decl. of J. Dhillon, Ex. B.
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to temporarily close the Casino.  Not only is this the sole relief the Court can fashion based on the 

jurisdictional and immunity issues discussed supra, any other form of relief runs the continued 

risk of indefinitely placing the Tribe in a position of being in breach (which could result in the 

permanent cessation of Casino operations), and allowing the derisive conduct (i.e., operation of 

the Casino) to continue to ignite controversy both on and off the Casino premises.  

The Tribe and Mr. Freeman are currently attempting to schedule mediation (with hopes to 

retain a mediator to sit down with them as early as this Friday, June 20, 2014) to resolve these 

issues.  Swearinger Decl. ¶ 13.  In addition to resolving concerns regarding the public’s health 

and safety, the temporary closure of the facility would serve as an impetus to expediently resolve 

the Casino problems with the assistance of the mediator.  

III. CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons the Court should refashion the relief requested and enter an 

order enjoining the operation of the Casino until the Tribe can demonstrate that there no longer 

exists an imminent threat to the public’s health and safety and that it is in compliance with the 

Compact.  Indeed, this is the only relief that the Court may issue.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii).

Dated: June 18, 2014 MCGREGOR W. SCOTT
J.R. RIDDELL
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP

By:                  /s/ McGregor W. Scott
MCGREGOR W. SCOTT
Attorneys for Defendants

OHSUSA:758287608.4 
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Attorneys for Defendants

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff,

v.

PASKENTA BAND OF NOMLAKI 
INDIANS, A FEDERALLY RECOGNIZED 
INDIAN TRIBE,

Defendants.

Case No. 2:14-cv-01449-KJM-CMK

DECLARATION OF VICE CHAIRMAN 
DAVID SWEARINGER

I, David Swearinger, declare:

1. My name is David Swearinger, and I am the Vice Chairperson of the Paskenta 

Band of Nomlaki Indians.  I have personal knowledge of each fact stated in this declaration.

2. The Paskenta Band of Nomlaki Indians is a federally recognized Indian tribe.  The 

Tribe operates pursuant to the Constitution of the Paskenta Band of Nomlaki Indians and other 

Tribal laws.  The Tribe is governed by a five member Tribal Council who are responsible for 

providing essential government services to and protecting the health and welfare of the Tribe’s 

members.  The Tribal Council is comprised of Chairman Andrew Freeman, Vice Chairman David 

Swearinger, Treasurer Leslie Lohse, Secretary Geraldine Freeman, and Member-at-Large Allen 

Swearinger.
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3. With respect, I offer this Declaration without waiving any entity’s sovereign 

immunity protection and without consenting myself or the Tribe or any Tribal entity to suit.  

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of a letter dated April 15, 

2014, from the Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”) to the City of Orland Police.  This letter has not 

been appealed. The letter identifies “the last Tribal Council of Record at this Agency” as 

Chairman Andrew Freeman, Vice Chairman David Swearinger, Treasurer Leslie Lohse, Secretary 

Geraldine Freeman, and Member-at-Large Allen Swearinger.

5. On June 9, 2014, the BIA again recognized the last uncontested tribally elected 

Council.  ECF No. 3-3 at 69-70, Declaration of of J. Dhillon, Ex. B. 

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of a letter dated April 21, 

2014, from Douglas Hatfield, NIGC Director of Compliance.  This letter states that based on the 

April 15, 2014, letter from the BIA, “the tribal government recognized by the BIA is not in 

control of the Band’s gaming operation and remains excluded from the premises.”  

7. The management (or former management, since we have dismissed them) of the 

Tribe’s Casino is currently occupying the Casino.  I, along with Treasurer Lohse, Secretary 

Freeman, and Member-at-large Allen Swearinger, attempted to enter the Casino on June 11, 2014.  

A mob of Casino security personnel, non-Tribal members, and Tribal members prevented us from 

doing so.  Someone put my wife in a headlock and punched my daughter in the stomach.  It is not 

physically possible for me, as a member of Tribal Council, or any of my fellow Tribal Council 

members, to peacefully enter the Casino.  Casino security is preventing us from doing so. 

8. We, as the governing body of the Tribe, have been physically prevented from 

entering or possessing the Casino.
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9. Chairman Andrew Freeman is playing some role in connection with management,

but through in my in-person conversations with him during the last week, I have learned that he is 

likely not giving direction to Casino management regarding the Tribe’s gaming operation. 

10. Regardless, all actions taken in connection with the Casino by the Tribal Council 

have been voted on and authorized pursuant to a unanimous vote of Tribal Council.  

11. One of those actions was to formally and temporarily close the Casino until it is 

safe, and the Tribe can wrest control of its gaming operation back from the management and 

lawyers currently occupying it. 

12. On May 9, 2014, the Tribal Council passed Resolution 2014-0435, taking 

measures to shut down operations the Casino, particularly in light of reports of threatened 

violence to casino employees and patrons.  Pursuant to Resolution 2014-0435, the Tribal Council 

issued a Casino Closure Notice on May 16, 2014.   Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a true and 

correct copy of Tribal Council Resolution No. 2014-0435 Adopting Emergency Security and 

Safety Measures, and the Casino Closure Notice.   

13. We, the Tribal Council, are currently attempting to schedule mediation with 

Chairman Freeman in Sacramento as early as this Friday, June 20, 2014, to resolve the leadership 

dispute. 

14. Attached hereto as Exhibit D is a true and correct copy of the Tribe’s Constitution.  

Article III, Section 1 of the Tribe’s Constitution identifies the Tribal Council as the governing 

body of the Tribe, which shall consist of five (5) members elected from the General Council.  The 

General Council consists of all members of the Tribe who are eighteen (18) years of age or older. 

Const., Art. III, §2.  The Constitution mandates that the General Council “shall exercise its 

powers through election of a Tribal Council, referendum, initiative, amendment, and such other 

powers as may be reserved to them by this Constitution. Id.  The Constitution also states that the 

Case 2:14-cv-01449-KJM-CMK   Document 8-1   Filed 06/18/14   Page 3 of 4



- 4 - DECLARATION OF SWEARINGER

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Tribal Council “shall consist of a Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, Secretary, Treasurer, and one 

other member each elected in an election held in accordance with this Constitution.” Id. at Art. 

III, §1. Article VI, Section 1, of the Band’s Constitution describes the Tribal Council’s specific 

authorized activities, including but not limited to the following authority:

To promulgate and enforce resolutions and ordinances providing for the exclusion 
of persons from Band lands; and on such other subjects as the activity of the Band 
may require that are not inconsistent with this Constitution . . . [, t]o initiate such 
administrative proceedings and/or legal action on behalf of the Band as may be 
necessary to protect the interests of the Band and its members . . . [, and t]o 
preserve, protect and uphold this Constitution.

Likewise, Article VI, Section 2, of the Constitution provides that “[t]he Tribal Council shall have 

all the appropriate powers necessary to implement specific provisions of this Constitution and to 

effectively govern the affairs of the Band.”  Decisions of the Tribal Council are valid and binding 

when a quorum of three (3) members of the Tribal Council are present and approve of the action 

item.  Id., Art. VII, §1(c).

The Chairperson has the Constitutional authority to preside at all meetings of the Tribal 

Council and the General Council; to sign all contacts, leases or other documents approved by the 

Tribal Council or the General Council; and to generally supervise Tribal officers, employees and 

committees of the Tribe, to see that duties are properly performed. Id., Art. VIII, §1.  Critically, 

nothing in the Constitution authorizes the Chairperson to unilaterally act or to otherwise 

invalidate any action of the Tribal Council on his own accord.

I declare under the penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing is true and correct.

DATED: June 18, 2014

____________________________

David Swearinger, Vice Chairperson

Paskenta Band of Nomlaki Indians
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